Case No.: S266590

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

## AMEN FAMILY 1990 REVOCABLE TRUST, Real Party in Interest

**Appellant** 

v.

## JEFFREY PRANG, Los Angeles County Assessor

Respondent

After a Decision of the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division Five Appeal Case No. B298794 Appeal from Los Angeles Superior Case No. BS173698 Hon. James C. Chalfant

## **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

### **GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP**

\*Colin W. Fraser, SBN 266867 frasercw@gtlaw.com Cris K. O'Neall, SBN 126160 18565 Jamboree Road, Suite 500 Irvine, California 92612 Telephone: 949.732.6500 Facsimile: 949.732.6501

Attorneys for Appellant

#

#### I. ISSUES PRESENTED

Since 1974, the Legislature has charged the California State Board of Equalization ("State Board") with administering and interpreting California's property tax regime. The State Board has adopted, pursuant to express Legislative authority, longstanding and consistent regulations and interpretive guidelines. The Court of Appeal in this case adopted an interpretation contrary to the State Board's.<sup>1</sup> This petition presents three issues for review:

1. Under Yamaha Corp. of America v. State Bd. of Equalization (1998) 19 Cal.4th 1 (Yamaha I), did the Court of Appeal err by failing defer to the longstanding construction of California's constitutional and statutory framework governing changes of ownership of real property by the agency charged with its administration and interpretation, where the agency's construction was not clearly erroneous.

2. Where the Yamaha I analysis demonstrates that the State Board's quasi-legislative regulations must be accorded the "dignity of statute" and its longstanding and consistent agency interpretation of the statute it administers must be accorded "great weight" and "respect," what legal standard governs a courts's departure from the State Board's interpretation, where the court does not conduct any Yamaha I analysis?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Court of Appeal's majority opinion and dissent are attached as **Exhibit A** to Appellant's Opening Brief.

3. Did the Court of Appeal err in concluding that the phrase "ownership interests" in the statutory framework governing changes of ownership has a different meaning depending on the form of property exchanged (real property versus stock) by giving the same phrase (ownership interests) different meanings in the same statutory scheme?

#### **II. INTRODUCTION**

This case involves the property tax assessment of two family-owned grocery stores based on a novel interpretation of law that departs from all relevant guidance by the State Board. The Court of Appeal's decision coins a unique definition of the term of art, "ownership interests," in holding that corporate ownership interests are measured using all forms of stock when determining if a property has undergone a change in ownership. In contrast, the State Board has uniformly and consistently measured corporate "ownership interests" using voting stock alone for over forty years, since first promulgating its regulation contemporaneously with the enactment of the change-inownership statutory framework.

The Court of Appeal's two-justice majority opinion undermines the uniformity of law on two important legal issues: the deference courts must give to the interpretation of a statute by an agency charged with its administration and, more specifically, the interpretation of the phrase "ownership interests" in the statutory framework governing changes in ownership for purposes of reassessing property under Proposition 13, the fundamental tax reform initiative passed in 1978.

8

Since 1981, the State Board, pursuant to express statutory authority, has issued regulations and guidelines interpreting Proposition 13 and the statutes for changes in ownership, a detailed and technical framework it is charged with administering. The Court of Appeal below, contrary to decisions of this Court, failed to give deference to the State Board's formal, longstanding, and consistent interpretation that corporate "ownership interests" are measured by voting stock alone in analyzing changes in ownership. This is error for two reasons.

First, the opinion conflicts with this Court's decision in Yamaha I and subsequent case law, which require courts to defer to an agency's consistent and longstanding interpretation of the statute it is charged with administering unless its interpretation is clearly erroneous. (See Sara M. v. Superior Court (2005) 36 Cal.4th 998, 1014, quoting Robinson v. Fair Employment & Housing Commission (1992) 2 Cal.4th 226, 234 ["administrative construction of a statute over many years, particularly when it originated with those charged with putting the statutory machinery into effect, is entitled to great weight and will not be overturned unless clearly erroneous."].) The decisions of this and other courts have applied the clear error standard, whereas the court below disregarded the State Board's consistent and longstanding interpretation without finding clear error—or even conducting a Yamaha I analysis. The Court of Appeal erred by failing to accord the "dignity of statute" to State Board Rule 462.180 (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 18, § 462.180 ("Rule 462.180"), in which the State Board defined corporate "ownership interests" as

9

"voting stock" contemporaneously with the enactment of the change in ownership statutory framework under Proposition 13. The Court of Appeal also erred by failing to accord "great weight" to the State Board's agency interpretations (six of which are in the record and attached here as exhibits), which explain that "[f]or change in ownership purposes, *ownership in a corporation* is determined by the percentage of ownership or control of a corporation's voting stock."<sup>2</sup> As a result, Justice Baker, in his dissent below, recognizes that "the majority opinion reaches the wrong result," "[a]s a matter of statutory interpretation and of implementing agency deference," on this "issue of statewide importance," because the Court of Appeal's opinion "authorizes" county assessors "to reassess real property in a manner *inconsistent* with the considered legal view of the State Board of Equalization." (Ex. A at p. 23, Baker J., diss. opn.) By failing to adhere to Yamaha I, the Court of Appeal has not only unsettled longstanding expectations, but has jeopardized the reliance of California taxpayers and local jurisdictions on the State Board's current and future guidelines and, in consequence, jeopardized the State Board's ability to administer this important statutory framework.

Second, the opinion fails to harmonize the statutes governing changes in ownership by creating multiple definitions

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Exhibit C to Opening Brief, California State Board of Equalization, Assessors' Handbook (2010, reprinted 2015) Ch.
401, Change in Ownership, at p. 58.

of the key phrase "ownership interests" despite the Legislature's mandate for "uniformity and consistency" in applying the statutory framework. (Pacific Southwest Realty co. v. County of Los Angeles (1991) 1 Cal.4th 155, 161-162.) Corporate ownership interests are measured using voting stock alone in the change-inownership statutes (Rev. & Tax. Code, §§ 60-69.5) and the constellation of State Board regulations and guidance. In addition to Rule 462.180 and Assessors' Handbook Section 401, quoted above, the State Board has issued four legal opinions and one Letter to Assessors between 2002 and 2011 that all measure corporate ownership interests using voting stock alone.<sup>3</sup> For example, the State Board's legal opinion of September 30, 2011 states, "For corporations, the ownership interests for measuring changes in control and *proportionality of ownership* are represented by voting stock." (Ex. F at p. 79.)<sup>4</sup> The Court of Appeal coined a new definition for the phrase "ownership interest" as used in Revenue and Taxation Code section 62(a)(2)("Section 62(a)(2)") that includes all forms of stock, and not just voting stock. To reach this result, the Court of Appeal applied the wrong standard to identify changes in ownership, overlooking the key phrase ("ownership interests") in favor of the term "stock," which is included in a subordinate clause of Section 62(a)(2)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The State Board's legal opinions and Letter to Assessors are part of the record below, but they are also attached hereto as **Exhibits D-H** for convenience.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> All emphasis is added, unless otherwise indicated.

listing non-exclusive examples of interests in a variety of legal forms.<sup>5</sup> The Court of Appeal's interpretation of "ownership interests" thus creates two different definitions of the same phrase in the same statutory framework depending on the form of property transferred—using all stock when determining if a transfer of real property from one corporation to another is a change in ownership under Section 62(a)(2), while using only voting stock when determining if a transfer of corporate ownership interests from one corporation to another is a change in ownership under Section 64(c). This departs from the uniform meaning found in the Revenue and Taxation Code, the California Code of Regulations, and all guidance by the State Board. Justice Baker, in his dissent below, explained that the "majority's oversimplified interpretive approach (the statute just says 'stock,' so that means any sort of stock) fails to harmonize the statutory scheme." (Ex. A at p. 24.) The Court of Appeal's interpretation fails to effect uate the purpose of Proposition 13 (limiting property tax increases) by expanding the circumstances that allow reassessment, dislocates Section 62(a)(2) from the change in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Section 62 provides, in relevant part: "Change in ownership shall not include: (a) . . . (2) Any transfer between an individual or individuals and a legal entity or between legal entities, such as a cotenancy to a partnership, a partnership to a corporation, or a trust to a cotenancy, that results solely in a change in the method of holding title to the real property and in which proportional *ownership interests* of the transferors and transferees, *whether represented by stock, partnership interest, or otherwise*, in each and every piece of real property transferred, remain the same after the transfer."

ownership statutes (by coining a definition unique to Section 62(a)(2)), creates loopholes enabling tax evasion (as outlined in Section IV.C, below), disrupts the State Board's ability to administer changes in ownership, and undermines taxpayers' reliance on the State Board's longstanding regulations and administrative guidance. The Court of Appeal's opinion also disrupts the authority of all California agencies to administer the law by encouraging efforts to ignore administrative guidance in violation of Yamaha I.

#### **III. STATEMENT OF FACTS**

#### A. The Ownership and Transfer of the Property

The property ("Property") at issue consists of two familyowned supermarkets operating under the brand name "Super A Foods." (Administrative Record ("AR") 120.)

On December 5, 2014, the Property was transferred (the "Transfer") from Super A Foods, Inc. (the "Company") to the Amen Family 1990 Revocable Trust (the "Trust.") (AR 120, 318.) Before and after the Transfer, the Trust owned all 22,800 outstanding shares of the Company's voting stock (AR 165, 167, 170). The Company also had issued non-voting stock as gifts to employees (AR 122, 320), representing 7.20% of all outstanding stock (AR 205). The Transfer is depicted in this diagram:



### B. The Framework Governing Changes in Ownership

Proposition 13, the landmark tax-reform initiative in 1978, made changes in ownership of real property significant in property taxation by adding article XIII A to the California Constitution. (See *Amador Valley Joint Union High Sch. Dist. v. State Bd. of Equalization* (1978) 22 Cal.3d 208, 218.) Article XIII A caps property tax increases at 2 percent per year, unless the property is purchased, newly constructed, or there is a "change in ownership," at which point the property is reassessed at fair market value. (Cal. Const., art. XIII A, § 2.) The implementation of article XIII A, and the resolution of its ambiguities, has "depended upon the contemporaneous construction of the Legislature or of the *administrative agencies* charged with implementing the new enactment." (*Amador Valley*, 22 Cal.3d at p. 245, italics added.) Division 1, part 0.5 of the Revenue and Taxation Code implements article XIII A. (Rev. & Tax. Code, §§ 50 *et seq.*) The Legislature defined "change in ownership" using a general definition (*id.*, § 60) and non-exclusive examples of what is, and is not, a change in ownership (*id.*, §§ 61-69.5). A "change in ownership" is a "transfer of a present interest in real property, including the beneficial use thereof, the value of which is substantially equal to the value of the fee interest." (*Id.*, § 60.) Either a transfer of real property or a transfer of an interest in the legal entity owning the real property may trigger a change in ownership. Analyzing either kind of transfer involving a corporation requires a review of the "ownership interests" before and after the transfer to determine if a change in ownership occurred.

One example of a change in ownership occurs when the transfer of an "ownership interest" in a legal entity results in a change in control of that entity. (*Id.*, § 64, subd. (c)(1).) This change in control is measured by the ownership of voting stock. (*Id.*) Specifically, section 64(c)(1) provides that when "control through direct or indirect ownership or control of more than 50 percent of the *voting stock* of any corporation," or a "majority ownership interest" is obtained, "the purchase or transfer of that stock or other interest shall be a change of ownership of the real property."

Another example of a change in ownership is the transfer of more than 50 percent of the "original co-owner" shares of an entity that owns real property. (*Id.*, § 64, subd. (d).) Pursuant to

15

Section 62(a)(2)—the statute at issue in this case—a change in ownership does not include:

Any transfer between an individual or individuals and a legal entity or between legal entities, such as a cotenancy to a partnership, a partnership to a corporation, or a trust to a cotenancy, that results solely in a change in the method of holding title to the real property and in which proportional ownership interests of the transferors and transferees, whether represented by stock, partnership interest, or otherwise, in each and every piece of real property transferred, remain the same after the transfer.

When Section 62(a)(2) excludes a transfer from being a change in ownership, those holding "ownership interests" in the legal entity immediately after the transfer are considered "original coowners." (*Id.*, § 64, subd. (d).) Section 64(d), however, requires reappraisal when the original co-owners transfer more than 50 percent of their "ownership interests":

Whenever shares or other ownership interests representing cumulatively more than 50 percent of the total interests in the entity are transferred by any of the original coowners in one or more transactions, a change in ownership of that real property owned by the legal entity shall have occurred, and the property that was previously excluded from change in under [Section 62(a)(2)] shall ownership be reappraised.

In other words, even though Section 62(a)(2) and Section 64(d) use corporate "ownership interests" to make change in ownership determinations governing the transfer of the same property, the Court of Appeal found the phrase has a different meaning in these two provisions. The Legislature did not enact statutory definitions of the terms "ownership interest" or "stock" in Section 62(a)(2), or "ownership interests" or "shares" in Section 64(d).<sup>6</sup>

## C. The State Board's Contemporaneous Regulation Measures Corporate "Ownership Interests" Using Voting Stock Alone

The State Board is authorized to prescribe rules and regulations to govern equalization and to promote uniformity throughout California in the assessment of property. (Gov. Code, § 15606, subds. (c), (e), (f).) Contemporaneously with the enactment of the change in ownership statutes, the State Board promulgated Property Tax Rule 462 to clarify the statutes' application to legal entity changes in ownership.(Cal. Code Regs., tit. 18, § 462.180, former Regulation § 462; see also State Board Letter to Assessors No. 81/91, Aug. 7, 1981.)<sup>7</sup> Rule 462.180 defines the terms "ownership interests" and "shares" in Section 64(d) to mean "voting shares." (Rule 462.180, subd. (d)(2), former tit. 18, § 462, subd. (j)(4)(B).)

Former Rule 462(j)(4)(B) explained that Section 64(d) applies when "the 'original coowners' subsequently transfer, in one or more transactions, more than 50 percent of the total control or *ownership interests* in the entity as defined in (4)(A)." Rule 462(j)(4)(A)(i), in turn, provided a change in ownership

 $<sup>^6</sup>$  The Legislature enacted Sections 62(a)(2) and 64(d) in 1980, and they became operative in 1981. (Assem. Bill No. 2777 (1979-1980 Reg. Sess.) §§ 1-2; Stats. 1980, ch. 1349.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> All references to Rules or Regulations are to title 18 of the California Code of Regulations.

occurs "[w]hen any corporation, partnership, other legal entity or any person obtains direct or indirect ownership or control of more than 50 percent of the *voting stock* in any corporation which is not a member of the same affiliated group of corporations . . . ." While Rule 462 has been renumbered, and is now contained within Rule 462.180, the definition of "ownership interests" and "shares" as meaning *voting* shares remains unchanged. (See Rule 462.180, subd. (d)(2).)

These Regulations were subject to the Administrative Procedure Act. (See e.g., Gov. Code, §§ 11346.2, 11346.45; see also State Board Letter to Assessors 81/22, Feb. 11, 1981.) The Final Statement of Reasons reflects no opposition to using "voting stock" to measure corporate "ownership interests" (Rule 462, Final Statement of Reasons, § IV, at p. 7) and, "except for this action, [the State Board] is not aware of any dispute over this language since adopting the legal entity change in ownership rules in 1981."<sup>8</sup>

## D. All State Board Guidance Uniformly Interprets "Ownership Interests" Using Voting Stock Alone

The State Board has always interpreted "ownership interest" in Section 62(a)(2) to mean voting stock. The State Board's guidance includes the Assessors' Handbook,<sup>9</sup> legal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Exhibit B to Opening Brief, Brief of *Amicus Curiae* California State Board of Equalization, at p. 39.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> "The *Assessors' Handbook* is a collection of manuals or sections adopted and published by the Board of Equalization" that

opinions,<sup>10</sup> and Letters to Assessors.<sup>11</sup> Assessors' Handbook section 401 was promulgated in 2010 following a two-year interested-parties drafting process, with the participation of County Assessors, County Counsel, representatives of the elected State Board members, and the Deputy State Controller, as well as private attorneys and State Board staff members. (AR 76-77.)

Section 401 of the Assessors' Handbook, entitled Change in Ownership, focuses exclusively on voting stock in explaining Section 62(a)(2). The Chapter concerning Section 62(a)(2) provides: "For change in ownership purposes, ownership in a corporation is determined by the percentage of ownership or control of a corporation's *voting stock*." (Ex. C, Assessors' Handbook Section 401, at p. 58.) Section 401 continues: "Control of a corporation exists when one entity or person has direct or indirect ownership or control of more than 50 percent of the *voting stock* of the corporation." (*Id.* at p. 60, original italics.)

<sup>&</sup>quot;address property tax appraisal and assessment practices." (AR 215; State Board Letter to Assessors No. 2003/039, May 29, 2003 ("LTA 2009/039").)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> "Legal opinions issued by the [State] Board staff are legal rulings of counsel which means a legal opinion written and signed by the Chief Counsel or an attorney who is the Chief Counsel's designee, addressing a specific tax application inquiry from a taxpayer or taxpayer representative, a local government, or other Board staff." (AR 216; LTA No. 2003/039.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> "In the late 1960's, the [State] Board began issuing a series of letters to county assessors in order to comply with [Government Code] section 15606.... The LTA series covers a myriad of topics each year, including ... policy-setting assessment guidelines ... and *Assessors' Handbook* sections." (AR 216; LTA 2003/039.)

Section 401 also provides three examples (numbered 6-10, 6-11, and 6-12) to illustrate Section 62(a)(2)'s application—all of which evaluate "ownership interests" based on "voting stock" alone. (*Id.* at pp. 62-63; see also AR 191-193.) Example 6-10 is the most pertinent to this action because it concerns a transfer of real property to a corporation:

D and B, equal co-tenants, transfer their real property to Corporation X and each take back 50 percent of the single class of *voting stock*. No change in ownership occurs, since the proportional ownership interests remain the same before and after the transfer.

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