Appellee Jeffrey Prang, in his capacity as the Los Angeles County 

Assessor (“Respondent”), respectfully submits this Answer Brief on the 

Merits ("Answer"). 

I.

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

transferee entity. Thus, all that is necessary is to determine who owns the 

economically valuable interests of the entities owning the transferred real 

property before and after the transfer of the real property. In the present 

case there was no proportionality—before the transfer, the real property 

was owned by an entity having at least five owners of the economically 

valuable stock of Super A and after the transfer the real estate was owned 

by an entity having two owners. 

On the other hand, using voting stock to measure proportionality 

under § 62(a)(2) would be entirely unworkable. Voting rights can be 

divided up among different classes of stock, stock can be created having no 

economic rights and only voting rights, and stock can be created having 

voting rights only on certain issues. Corporations Code § 400(a) (“A 

corporation may issue one or more classes or series of shares or both, with 

full, limited or no voting rights and with such other rights, preferences, 

 
1 Whether these percentages are accurate is irrelevant for present 
purposes—this is just an example of how the proportionality calculation 
would work in the present circumstances. 
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privileges and restrictions as are stated or authorized in its articles.”); 

Ronald C. Lease, The Market Value of Differential Voting Rights in Closely 

held Corporations, 57 Journal of Business 443, 448, 451(discussing 

differential voting rights in classes of stock and stock having voting rights 

in the event of takeover attempts); Securities Exchange Commission, 

Description of Capital Stock,  https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/ 

1393818/000119312519186655/d27713dex991.htm (last visited August 26, 

2020) (describing a particular class voting structure where one class of 

stock had a right to vote separately from another class of stock on 

amendments to the certificate of incorporation relating to par value of 

stock.)  

What this means is that a corporation could have the following 

voting structure: Class A has 10 votes per share, Class B has 1 vote per 

share and Class C has the right to vote only on mergers, tender offers, or 

sales of all or substantially all assets of the corporation and Class C must 

approve any such transaction for the transaction to be valid. How would 

proportionality be determined based on these voting rights? It is, in fact, not 

possible since voting rights are divided not just in terms of votes per share, 

but based on subject matter. Class C has the right to vote only on certain 

types of transactions before the transaction can be valid. What would be the 

“proportion” of voting rights attributable to that stock? The answer is that it 

cannot be determined.  

This example can be made even more unworkable. California 

Corporations Code allows debt instruments to have voting rights. 

Corporations Code § 204(a)(7). So, add to the example an issue of bonds 

with voting rights. Now how “straightforward” is measuring proportionality 

using voting rights? The bonds are not even “stock” under § 62(a)(2). So 

how is that handled? Again using “voting stock” leads to insoluble 

difficulties and cannot be what the legislature intended. Instead, what the 



42 

plain meaning dictates—that all stock be considered—is the correct and 

intended result. The legislature presumably knew the law of corporations 

and never would have drafted § 62(a)(2) to cause these unworkable results. 

Thus, it is not viewing “stock” as being a general term representing 

all stock that causes difficulties in administering § 62(a)(2) proportionality, 

it is using “voting stock” that can cause insuperable problems. 

10. The Example Propounded by Appellant and the BOE 
Shows that the Court of Appeal Decision is Correct 

The BOE Brief provides an example, adopted by the Appellant 

(Opening Brief at 44), that it claims shows some difficulty in applying the 

rule demanded by the plain meaning of the statute. The example does no 

such thing and actually shows how well the Respondent’s view of “stock” 

works under § 62(a)(2). The example provides: 

 Step 1: A owns 100 shares of a corporation. 400 shares of 

nonvoting stock of the corporation are purchased by B. All of the 

shares of stock have equal economic rights in the corporation. 

BOE Brief at 21. 

 Step 2: The Corporation is dissolved and the real property is 

distributed to A and B with A owning 20% and B 80%. BOE 

Brief at 22. 

The BOE states that there would be no change in ownership in 

Respondent’s view because proportional ownership is the same at the end 

of step 2, but there would be a change in ownership under their theory 

because A originally “owned” the real property through the voting stock 

and both A and B owned the property after step 2 of the transaction 

resulting in a lack of proportionality. That this transaction would and 

should qualify under the § 62(a)(2) proportionality rule is correct—there is 

proportionality of ownership of the property under § 62(a)(2). Before the 
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second transaction the property was owned 20% by A and 80% by B based 

on the economic interests of the parties under Pac. Southwest, supra. After 

the transaction, the ownership interests in the real property are exactly the 

same and, therefore, § 62(a)(2) proportionality applies. This example is 

substantively (other than the proportional interests of shareholders in this 

example) the same as the instant case where the Superior Court correctly 

applied § 62(a)(2). 

The BOE, with no explanation, argues that this result is incorrect and 

that § 62(a)(2) should not apply here. No support for this view is supplied 

and the BOE apparently just assumes that its claim is accurate. It is not; § 

62(a)(2) properly applies to the BOE example. The only explanation for the 

error by the BOE is that they ignore the general rule set forth in § 64(a) that 

the purchase or sale of interests in a corporation do not result in a transfer 

of real property. Since it is clear that the proportional interests of the parties 

in the example are precisely the same before and after the transfer, the only 

explanation for their position is that somehow the initial purchase of the 

nonvoting stock resulted in a transfer. This is not the law under § 64(a). 

The BOE also claims there is some “gamesmanship” involved in this 

example but provides no explanation for this statement. In the example of 

the BOE, B purchased for valid consideration an 80% economic interest in 

the corporation and, indirectly, the real property, with A retaining a 20% 

interest in the corporation and, indirectly, the real property. The property 

subsequently was distributed through dissolution in exactly the same 

proportions of ownership. This is exactly what should occur as a matter of 

law under corporate law and results in complete proportionality of 

ownership under § 62(a)(2) before and after the second step of the example. 

Moreover, that this result is correct is clear from the fact that this result 

follows directly from the law of corporations—the proportional ownership 

interests dictated by corporate law are properly analyzed and implemented 
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in applying § 62(a)(2) to the dissolution—each party gets exactly the 

proportion of ownership in the real property they had in the corporation. 

There is no gamesmanship involved—exactly what corporate and property 

tax law intend occurs in this example. 

As a final problem with this example, if proportionality under § 

62(a)(2) is determined solely by the rules of § 64 there is no way to 

determine proportionality here since section 64 deals only with juridical 

entities and provides no rule whatsoever relating to transfers to individuals. 

As a result, under the theory propounded by the Appellant there is no rule 

to apply to this example under § 62(a)(2). This cannot be the law. 

B. THE COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY AFFIRMED THE 
TRIAL COURT 

1. The Court of Appeal Properly Determined that § 62(a)(2 ) 
is not Ambiguous 

The Court of Appeal correctly found that § 62(a)(2) is not 

ambiguous and disposed of arguments made in the Appellant’s and amicus 

briefs as follows: 

 To arguments that there were instances in the R&TC and Property Tax 

Rules of use of the term “stock” to mean “voting stock” it found that 

the examples given by the Appellants were cases of proper use of the 

general term “stock” and the more specific term “voting stock” or that 

the two terms were simply used for grammatical purposes. Opinion at 

8-13. Moreover the Court found that the differentiated use of the terms 

in the statute illustrated that the Legislature intended the terms to have 

different meanings and deliberately used the terms distinctly. Opinion 

at 11-12. 

 

 The Court also notes that in R&TC § 23361 the legislature expressly 

distinguished “stock” and “voting stock.” Opinion at 12, note 8. See 

also Section IV.A. of this brief. 
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 The argument that the existence of many subcategories of “stock” 

shows ambiguity was appropriately rejected. This simply reaffirms the 

Court’s interpretation of “stock” as meaning all classes of stock. 

Opinion at 12-13.  

2. The Court of Appeal Properly Applied Rules of Statutory 
Interpretation 

The Court of Appeal properly followed rules of statutory 

interpretation leading to its conclusion that “stock” in § 62(a)(2) means 

what it says—“all stock.” The Court found that there was no ambiguity in 

the statute after meticulously analyzing and rejecting Appellant’s and 

Amici arguments to the contrary. Opinion at 7-14. The Court then went on 

to correctly apply the plain meaning rule—the ordinary meaning of “stock” 

is all forms of stock, not just voting stock. Opinion at 6, 10-11. In coming 

to this conclusion, the Court notes that the legislature has made clear 

throughout the R&TC that it knew how to use and distinguish “stock” from 

“voting stock” and other subcategories of the term “stock.” Opinion at 11. 

Far from following an “oversimplified interpretative approach” as claimed 

by the Dissent, the Opinion carefully analyzes and applies statutory 

interpretive provisions having been part of our jurisprudence for over 200 

years. Dissent at 2. 

 
3. The Court of Appeal Correctly Determined that Section 

64 is not Properly Applied in the Case 
 

The Court below determined that the authorities at the foundation of 

Appellant’s arguments, i.e., authorities pertaining to § 64 are not applicable 

here. Opinion at 15-16. The Court determined that §§ 62(a)(2) and 64 deal 

with totally different issues—the former with changes in ownership by 

virtue of transfer of real estate and the latter with such changes resulting 

from transfers of control in legal entities. Moreover, the Court also 

correctly relies on this Court’s ruling in Pacific Southwest in determining 



46 

that under § 60 and § 62(a)(2) proportionality under the latter section must 

be determined looking at the economic interests of the parties in the 

property and in this case the economic interests before and after the transfer 

were not proportional. Pacific Southwest, supra at 162 

C. SPECIFIC ARGUMENTS RAISED IN APPELLANTS 
OPENING BRIEF 

The Appellant has raised several new arguments and adopted some 

arguments of Amici in its Opening Brief which are addressed below.  

1. The Court of Appeal Properly Analyzed and Rejected 
“Administrative Guidance” 

Section V.A. of the Opening Brief argues that the panel below did 

not give sufficient weight and deference to the BOE’s administrative 

guidance. The simple answer to this assertion is that it would have been 

inappropriate for the Court to consider extrinsic sources of any kind since 

the plain meaning of § 62(a)(2) resolves this dispute. But the claim is also 

factually incorrect.  The panel first considered and rejected that Appellant’s 

argument that Property Tax Rule 462.240, a BOE regulation, applies to this 

dispute. Next, the panel, like the Superior Court, decided that the 

Assessor’s Handbook, Letters to the Assessor and BOE legal opinions 

Appellant relies on are “not particularly helpful” because none of them 

address “the situation in which both voting and nonvoting stock are at play 

in determining ownership under section 62(a)(2).” Opinion at 13, note 

10.  But the panel then went on to consider and analyze the BOE Brief, 

even though it is not a published legal opinion (and obviously not a 

contemporaneous interpretation of a statute). The Opinion noted that the 

BOE’s position is premised on the assumption that section 62 (a)(2) is 

ambiguous because “there are many subcategories of stock” identified in 

several R&TC provisions. The Opinion concluded that the several 
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subcategories actually refuted the BOE’s argument: “(T)he statutory 

references to these various classes of stock reaffirms our interpretation of 

‘stock” in section 62(a)(2) as meaning all classes of stock, not just voting 

stock.” Opinion at 14. In footnote 11, on page 14 of the Opinion, the Court 

noted the BOE’s role in property tax administration and its amicus brief, 

then pointed out that the California Assessors’ Association, a statewide 

organization, filed a brief which disagreed, and then concluded that: 

“[u]ltimately, it is this Court’s task to interpret the statute.” The Opinion 

followed with a quote from Yamaha, the case Appellant relies on, that 

courts must respect the agency’s interpretation which is “one among several 

tools available to the court. Depending on the context, it may be helpful, 

enlightening, even convincing. It may sometimes be of little worth.” 

[emphasis added]. Opinion at 14, note 11.The panel did the sort of review 

that Yamaha requires, plus more, and decided that the BOE’s opinion was 

incorrect.   

2. There are no “Settled Expectations” and Replacing 
“Stock” with “Voting Stock” Could Create Enormous 
Difficulties in Administration  

The Appellant and the Dissent argue that there could be 

administrative difficulties and a patchwork of different rules applied under 

§ 62(a) (2) by different counties if the plain meaning of that subsection is 

followed. There is absolutely nothing in the record on this issue as is 

admitted by counsel for Appellant, Colin Fraser (Transcript at 10, 15), and 

this issue was not raised until this case was before the Court of Appeal. No 

evidence was presented that other counties interpret § 62(a) (2) differently 

than does the County of Los Angeles. Indeed, the Amicus briefing by the 

CSAC and CAA, both of which represent all 58 counties in the state, does 

not indicate that there would be any such patchwork or administrative 
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difficulties, and they are the entities that administer property taxation in the 

counties. 

 The only source Respondent can find for these assertions of 

upsetting settled expectations or administrative difficulties is an unsworn 

statement by an attorney for Appellant before the Court of Appeal in 

response to a question by Justice Baker: 

Justice Baker: Mr. Kelch, let me take advantage of your expertise 

as relates to the state BOE materials. If this decision comes out in 

your favor, will we be making the Los Angeles County Assessor 

an outlier as compared to the rest of the state. In other words, 

what I want to know is are all the other assessors and all the other 

counties in this state following the state BOE guidance as 

interpreted by the other side such that you're essentially asking us 

to create a one-off here for Los Angeles County.  

Kelch: No, the, okay, the guidance that is being referred to by 

Appellant, it has nothing whatever to do with this particular case.  

Judge Moore: That's not the question Justice Baker asked? He's 

asking as a practical sense, what are other assessors doing?  

Kelch: Your honors, I don't know what position they're taking on 

this … 

.   .   .   . 

Fraser: Thank you, your honor. I'll be brief. I'll address five 

specific points. How are assessors acting throughout the state? 

Except for the Los Angeles Assessor, they're following the state 

BOE's guidance. That's what it's there for. I've spoken to their 

legal counsel about this.  

Judge Moore: Anything on the record?  

Fraser: Nothing in the record. § 64. Opposing counsel argues that 

it's irrelevant here. 

Transcript at 10, 15.  
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It is odd that Mr. Fraser asserts that all other assessors (except the 

Los Angeles County Assessor) are following the BOE's guidance, yet the 

CSAC and CAA are supporting the Los Angeles County Assessor herein.  

In any event, the entire argument from “settled expectations,” “patchwork” 

results or administrative issues is one that was not raised until this case was 

appealed (the BOE Brief does refer to possible administrative difficulties, 

but this is in the course of the appeal) and is wholly unsupported in the 

record. Therefore, it is not appropriately considered in deciding this case. 

Further, even if it were appropriate to consider these issues, it has been

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